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When Friedrich Wilhelm the Great Elector (the Große Kurfürst, reigned 1640–88) 

died in 1688, Berlin was under the cultural domination of the Netherlands.1 

Friedrich Wilhelm had studied in the Netherlands in his youth, and in 

1646 married Louise Henriette, a daughter of the Dutch Stadtholder Frederik 

Hendrik. Relations between the countries were close, and the elector was to visit 

the Netherlands frequently in later years. The nation was well informed about 

Dutch art. In 1651 Luise Henriette commissioned a statue of her spouse from 

François Dieussart (c.1600–61), which was installed in the Lustgarten.2 During 

Friedrich Wilhelm’s reign, work by the most outstanding Dutch sculptors arrived 

in Berlin – among them, besides Dieussart, Artus Quellinus (1609–68) and 

Bartholomeus Eggers (c.1637–92).3 However, by the end of the century the aura 

surrounding Dutch art had faded. Friedrich III (reigned 1688–1713), aspired to 

higher things. He wanted Brandenburg’s new foreign policy and military strength 

to find appropriate expression on the diplomatic level, and this could only mean 

enhancing the dignity of an elector by the dignity of kingship.4 The international 

prerequisites for this were not unfavourable, for in the Duchy of Prussia he ruled 

a domain that was no longer part of the Holy Roman Empire, and could thus 

attain the status of a kingdom – unlike the Margravate of Brandenburg.

The way to the crown – finally accomplished in 1701 – was accompanied by 

an extraordinarily ambitious instrumentalization of politics in art.5 When at 

the start of his reign, Friedrich III wished to commission his own statue from 

Bartholomeus Eggers, it was because the sculptor – in the service of the Great 

Elector – had produced statues of his eleven predecessors for the Alabastersaal 

of his town palace, the Berliner Schloss.6 Soon the Dutch connection was not 

sufficient. The magnetism of ancient and papal Rome and of the France of Louis 

XIV was stronger. One of the artists brought in for the aggrandisement of Berlin 

was Andreas Schlüter (1659–1714), appointed sculptor to the court of Brandenburg 

in 1694.7 Schlüter had an unprecedented career in Berlin in his first years there, 

and was to create two monuments, one posthumously for the Great Elector (fig. 1)8 

and one for his son, Friedrich III (fig. 12).9 In 1698 his post was only court sculptor, 

yet he was entrusted with the costly and complex reconstruction of the Berliner 

Schloss.10 Today, Schlüter is renowned equally as both a sculptor and an architect.

Andreas Schlüter was born in Danzig in 1659, and trained there as a sculptor in 

stone.11 He may have found a post in the service of the Polish king, Jan III Sobieski, 

and moved to Warsaw. He might have been involved in the extensions to the royal 

residence in Wilanów, though to a lesser extent than the relevant scholarship has 

assumed. Wilanów was a melting pot, where King Jan III Sobieski united artists 
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and works of art from many European countries.12 Schlüter learnt a great deal 

there, and encountered an inspiring appreciation of Michelangelo’s architecture 

at the court, where the leading architect, Agostino Locci, referred explicitly to 

Michelangelo’s palaces on the Capitoline Hill.13 Schlüter could have made his 

first visit to Italy during this period. In the early 1690s he worked on tombs for 

the Sobieski family, and was commissioned as a sculptor by one of the leading 

aristocratic families in Poland, the Krasiński, for the building of their new palace 

in Warsaw. 

It seems certain that he was engaged in Berlin for some projects that had 

already been settled, first and foremost among them the sculpture on the Lange 

Brücke (Long Bridge), which was then approaching completion.14 One of these was 

an equestrian statue (fig. 1). It says much for the farsightedness of the court that 

only a few months after Schlüter’s arrival, it hired an experienced bronze founder 

to cast the two monuments. His name was Johann Jacobi (1661–1726), born in 

(Bad) Homburg.15 He had previously worked in Paris in the service of Johann Jacob 

and Johann Balthasar Keller,16 and had experienced at close quarters the casting 

of the great equestrian statue of Louis XIV on the Place Louis-le-Grand (Place 

Vendôme).17 The only outstanding bronze sculpture in Berlin to date was the tomb 

of the elector Johann Cicero in Berlin Cathedral, which arrived in Berlin in 1530 

from the workshop of Peter Vischer the Elder (c.1460–1529) in Nuremberg.18 In a 

word – there was no tradition of the bronze founder’s craft in Berlin.

1. Johann Jacobi (1661-1726), after 
a model by Andreas Schlüter 
(1659–1714), Friedrich Wilhelm 
the Great Elector, 1696–1709, 
bronze and marble, h: 2.9 m (5.6 m 
with pedestal). Seen here in its 
original setting, the Lange Brücke 
(Kurfürstenbrücke), Berlin. Schloss 
Charlottenburg, Berlin, Stiftung 
Preußische Schlösser und Gärten 
Berlin-Brandenburg.
(photo: Brandenburgisches 
Landesamt für Denkmalpflege und 
Archäologisches Landesmuseum, 
Messbildarchiv, Wünsdorf)
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3. Tobias Henry Reetz (1680–
1765), The Lange Brücke in 
Berlin, with the design of a 
monument for Friedrich III, 
before 1697, pen and ink and 
wash. Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz 
Bibliothek – Niedersächsische 
Landesbibliothek, Hanover.
(photo: Bernd Adam)

2. Jean Baptiste Broebes 
(c.1660–c.1720), Design for the 
Schlossplatz. Bird’s eye view from 
the east with the Lange Brücke in 
the foreground, c.1702, engraving, 
32 * 56 cm.
(photo: Illustration from Jean 
Baptiste Broebes, Vues des Palais 
et Maisons de Plaisance, Augsburg 
1733, Tab. 1)

4. Samuel Blesendorf (1633–1706), 
View of the Berliner Schloss and the 
Lange Brücke from the east, 1696, 
engraving, 9 * 18 cm.
(photo: Illustration from Lorenz 
Beger, Thesaurus Brandenburgicus, 
vol. 1, Cologne/Spree 1696, p. 169)
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In 1690 the bridge over the Spree was only a plain wooden construction. The 

Schloss – apart from some selective extensions – was still in every way a building 

of the sixteenth century, dominated by the aesthetics of the Saxon Renaissance, 

while the cathedral had medieval associations. Once in office, Friedrich III’s 

ideas for improvements took shape. In 1702 the French architect and engraver 

Jean-Baptiste Broebes (c.1660–shortly after 1720) submitted an aerial view of a 

proposed Schlossplatz (fig. 2). This combined the ideas of various artists – some 

executed and some not – for reconstructing the complex. The Schloss is drawn 

in at the right as a new building, based on Schlüter’s model, and to the right at 

the rear is the new Zeughaus (arsenal).19 The old cathedral was envisaged as a 

grandiose domed church, a project which never materialized,20 any more than 

the Marstall (royal stables) situated on the left-hand side.21 Schlüter did part of the 

sculptural work on the arsenal, and its courtyard was intended as the location for 

a statue of Friedrich III. One can recognize a part of the Schloss in a tower about 

100 metres high, the so-called Münzturm (Mint Tower), which Schlüter had worked 

on since 1701.22 Faulty in its construction, its shaky foundations were to cost him 

his career. In 1706 the tower was practically finished, but it had to be dismantled, 

and Schlüter was dismissed as architectural director of the building programme.

Broebes’ aerial view also shows a stone bridge across the Spree with an 

equestrian statue at its centre. Ideas for a reconstruction of the Spree bridge and 

its crowning adornment of an equestrian statue can be traced back to the year 

1692. The construction of the bridge, designed by the architect Johann Arnold 

Nering (1659–95), was begun in the same year, and was fittingly honoured by a 

medal.23 The medal, and a drawing by the young architect Henry Reetz (1680–

1765) dated a little later (fig. 3),24 are evidence of the rich sculptural programme 

planned. River gods of sandstone were envisaged at the foot of the bridge piles, 

and their execution was among Schlüter’s first assignments when he came to 

Berlin in 1694.25 There were plans to place classical gods on the balustrade as 

symbols of the electoral virtues, on either side of 

the equestrian statue of the ruler at the centre of the 

bridge.26 However, these plans were later scrapped.

Uncertainty prevailed for some time as to 

whether the horse was to be rendered trotting or 

rearing, as in a view from the mid-1690s (fig. 4). 

When work on the equestrian statue at last started 

in 1696, the painter Paul Carl Leygebe (1664–1730) 

applied for the commission, and referred to a work 

in iron by his father Gottfried Christian Leygebe 

(1630–83) showing the Great Elector as St George, 

kept in the electoral Kunstkammer (fig. 5).27 However, 

this was not deemed a worthy antecedent for such a 

major commission, and in any case the protagonists 

had already been assigned – Schlüter and Jacobi.

For some time Friedrich III was undecided as to 

whom the equestrian statue should portray: himself – 

the patron – or his father, the Great Elector. The idea 

5. Gottfried Christian Leygebe 
(1630–83), Friedrich Wilhelm the 
Great Elector as Saint George, 
c.1680, cast and chased iron, 
h: 28 cm. Staatliche Museen zu 
Berlin Preußischer Kulturbesitz, 
Skulpturensammlung.
(photo: Staatliche Museen zu 
Berlin Preußischer Kulturbesitz, 
Skulpturensammlung)
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was frequently modified. There had always been talk 

of an equestrian statue of the Great Elector, even 

while he was still alive. In 1687 the Swedish architect 

Nicodemus Tessin the Younger (1654–1728) visited the 

studio of the Amsterdam sculptor de Jong – probably 

Hendrick de Jongh (died 1708) – and saw ‘a model 

of wax of the Elector of Brandenburg on horseback 

with 4 children at the corners of the pedestal, thus 

representing the 4 winds’. He reported further 

that ‘the horse galloped’ and that the ‘work was 

abandoned, because it would have cost over 50,000 

thalers’.28 When at last the execution of an equestrian 

statue was actually started in the 1690s, Friedrich 

wanted to be the one on the horse,29 but then he 

dropped the idea and honoured his father instead. 

Work began in 1696.30 The first delivery of iron 

for the armature of the large-scale model arrived. 

This was finished in plaster in August 1697, and the 

mould was cast in 1698. Probably it was then that a plaster model covered in 

gold-leaf was erected on the Lange Brücke. It was to stay there as a stop-gap until 

the completion of the cast – the casting procedure itself was a great spectacle 

and took place on 2 November 1700. This, incidentally, was only a day after the 

death of the last Habsburg monarch of Spain. This is worth mentioning, since 

the elector profited from the subsequent Wars of Succession – the emperor in 

Vienna depended on Brandenburg as an ally and could no longer deny him the 

dignity of kingship.31 The treaty with Vienna was signed as early as 16 November 

1700; on 17 December the elector set out for Königsberg (now Kaliningrad), where 

he was to be crowned. Events were coming so thick and fast that by the time he 

returned to Berlin the new façade of the Schloss 

had been finished, including a three-bay projection 

for the entrance reminiscent of a triumphal gate; 

nevertheless, the plaster stop-gap was still ‘trotting’ 

along the Lange Brücke. The chasing and polishing 

of horse and rider would still take time. At the end 

of 1701 the king approved the plans for the pedestal. 

Another year passed before the bronze statue was 

erected on the Lange Brücke. This was in 1703, on his 

birthday. Only then did work start on the slaves. We 

must assume that Schlüter supplied the first designs, 

while four individual sculptors then worked on the 

execution of the models. They were cast in 1708. The 

same year saw the creation of the two side reliefs 

after designs by the painter Johann Friedrich Wentzel 

(1670–1729). Finally, in 1709, the inscription panel was 

completed, as were the volutes on the base, which 

play a major part in the effect of the whole work.

6. Johann Jacobi, after a model by 
Johann Samuel Nahl (1665–1727), 
Allegory of the Electorate of 
Brandenburg, 1708, bronze, c.80 * 
80 cm. On the proper right of 
the pedestal of the monument 
to Friedrich Wilhelm, the Great 
Elector.
(photo: the author)

7. Johann Jacobi, after a model by 
Johann Hermann Backer (active 
c.1698–1716), Allegory of the 
Kingdom of Prussia, 1708, bronze, 
c.80 * 80 cm. On the proper left 
of the pedestal of the monument 
to Friedrich Wilhelm, the Great 
Elector.
(photo: the author)
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The equestrian statue and the reconstructed 

Berlin Schloss were the most impressive monuments 

to the newly acquired status of kingship. Friedrich 

III, who from now on called himself Friedrich I, 

honoured not only his father, but himself, through 

these works. This is manifest particularly on the 

two reliefs on the base (figs. 6, 7). The proper right 

shows an allegory of the electorate of Brandenburg, 

the proper left that of the kingdom of Prussia, thus 

illustrating the development of the countries under 

his rule. A medal struck in 1703 on the erection 

of the statue not only named ‘Friedrich the First, 

August King of Prussia’ (FREDERICO I: AVGVSTO 

BORUSSORVM. REGI), but also mentioned that he had 

erected this monument to the honour of his father, 

so that the latter ‘would possess eternal glory and as 

a gesture of piety of his august royal son for the best 

of fathers’ (VT ESSET: AETERNA. GLORIA: ET MAXIMI 

/ FILII: REGIS: IN: OPTIMVM / PATREM PIETATIS 

MONVMENTVM / INSIGNIS).32 Honouring his father and not himself was a sign of 

modesty appropriate to Protestant societies. However, even that solution did not 

prevent some from thinking that the ceremonies of unveiling the bronze version 

in 1703 ‘border[ed] on idolatry’, as the secretary of the British envoy wrote in a 

letter dated 7 July 1703.33 

The statue is 5.6 m high including the pedestal and, viewed in detail, consists 

of a horse and rider produced from one cast, the four slaves, the marble pedestal 

and its pictorial reliefs and inscription. It is obvious that familiarity with the 

great tradition of western European equestrian statues infused the design. This 

had evolved in antiquity and had experienced an enormous boom since the 

fifteenth century, especially in Italy and France.34 There were famous models for 

an equestrian monument on a bridge, such the monument for Henri IV on the 

Pont Neuf in Paris.35 The Berlin monument comes very close to it, particularly the 

slaves around the base. The deities originally planned for the Berlin bridge also 

allude to the Ponte S. Angelo in Rome, the former Pons Aelius.36 Immediately after 

its completion in AD 134 ancient divinities were installed upon the balustrade, if 

we are to believe a coin of the emperor Hadrian. Between 1667 and 1672, the bridge 

was adorned with ten statues of angels carrying the instruments of the Passion by 

Bernini. The Lange Brücke in Berlin resonates with Parisian and Roman allusions. 

The location of a bridge for the equestrian statue has recently elicited an 

interpretation of the Great Elector as the legendary hero of Roman virtue, 

Horatius Cocles.37 This is unlikely, notwithstanding Friedrich III’s possession 

of a Roman coin depicting an equestrian monument on a bridge, which was 

published in the second volume of the Thesaurus Brandenburgicus.38 A Roman 

publication from the first half of the seventeenth century did interpret this 

coin as representing a monument for Horatius Cocles on the Pons sublicius,39 

although historically speaking it refers to an honorary statue for the consul 

8. Unknown artist, Friedrich 
Wilhelm the Great Elector, model 
for a monument, c.1696, plaster, 
h: 61 cm. Formerly Hohenzollern-
Museum, Berlin, lost since 1945.
(photo: Stiftung Preußische 
Schlösser und Gärten Berlin-
Brandenburg, Potsdam)

9. Johann Jacobi, after a model 
by Andreas Schlüter, Friedrich 
Wilhelm the Great Elector, 1696–
1709, bronze and marble, h: 2.9 m 
(5.6 m with pedestal). Schloss 
Charlottenburg, Berlin, Stiftung 
Preußische Schlösser und Gärten 
Berlin-Brandenburg.
(photo: the author)
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Quintus Marcius Tremulus.40 However, this reading is not accepted in the detailed 

description in the Thesaurus Brandenburgicus. And even if the planners had 

wanted to establish an association with Horatius Cocles, they would have certainly 

cast a quick look at the original text by Livy41 and realized that the Roman hero, 

the defender of Rome against the Etruscans in 507 BC, was hardly suitable as an 

actual model. Firstly, the Pons sublicius – as the name suggests – was a wooden 

pile bridge, since in time of danger, a stone bridge could not be broken up speedily 

enough. In Berlin a stone bridge had at last replaced the wooden bridge which 

had spanned the Spree for centuries, and had been last renovated in 1661. Cocles’ 

achievement consisted in defending the Pons sublicius against the Etruscans until 

the Romans broke it up: not an apposite allusion for a new stone bridge, with its 

associations of permanence and stability. Further, Livy states that Cocles received 

a monument in gratitude on the Forum Romanum, not on the Pons sublicius. One 

final remark: if the planners had wanted to allude to Horatius Cocles, there would 

have been at least one opportunity to proclaim this unambiguously, namely on 

one of the two aforementioned reliefs on the base of the equestrian statue. A 

component of the allegory of the Electorate of Brandenburg is represented by 

Mucius Scaevola, a symbol of patriotism, who had distinguished himself just one 

year before Horatius Cocles in the same campaign against the Etruscans.

In Berlin, the horse and rider of the equestrian monument were created under 

the direct influence of François Girardon’s (1628–1715) equestrian statue of Louis 

XIV on the Place Louis-le-Grand (Place Vendôme) in Paris.42 This was cast in 1692, 

but had not yet been erected in 1696, when work was started on the equestrian 

monument in Berlin. Exact information about the project was, however, available, 

especially if we remember that Jacobi took part in the casting process. It is 

possible that Schlüter had been to Paris prior to this, and was acquainted with 

the work and its development.43 Girardon shows the king in Roman ceremonial 

armour with a billowing cloak, half-length leggings and strapped sandals, armed 

only with the royal sword. The arm, in a gesture based on the equestrian statue of 

Marcus Aurelius on the Capitol in Rome, commands and blesses at the same time. 

The relaxed nature of the sovereign posture, and the proud glance of the slightly 

turned head, present Louis XIV as the ideal archetype of the absolute monarch.

In principle, the Berlin monument keeps to the Parisian scheme, as we can see 

in the preliminary model (fig. 8).44 The Roman uniform suggests timelessness. By 

dispensing with contemporary authenticity, one could avoid being out of fashion 

within the space of a generation, thereby losing the link to universality. So the 

Great Elector is portrayed as a Roman emperor, in armour (cuirass) and cloak, with 

the characteristic laminae protecting the abdomen, and wearing sandals. One 

concession to the present is the allonge wig, as in the case of Louis XIV. 

The unity of Schlüter’s design was a constant source of admiration in later art 

historical literature. Although Schlüter assimilated many international influences 

in his statue, the result is not eclectic. He succeeded in subordinating everything 

to one idiom, his own idiom, an idiom that is infused throughout by a dynamic 

energy. While the view from the west can be called the ‘pacific’ aspect (fig. 1), 

indicating the peace-loving and mild sovereign, the other is seen as the warlike 

side (fig. 9).45 Not the least of the Great Elector’s attributes was his status as a great 
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general. At the battle of Fehrbellin in 1675 he had 

annihilated the Swedish troops, decisively enhancing 

the basis for the future grandeur and aura of the 

Brandenburg-Prussian state. The victory brought him 

much prestige throughout the Reich, as the Swedes 

had previously been thought invincible. Thus the 

elector’s appearance is far more dynamic on this side. 

Cloak, leggings and hair of horse and rider stream 

in the wind. It distinguishes the monument from 

many of its predecessors in which stilted ceremony 

predominated and one has the impression that 

horse and rider hover in a vacuum. Here, horse and 

rider truly form a unity. Here, too, there is a striking 

difference to many other equestrian monuments, 

in which the rider is frequently rendered as 

overdimensional and seated stiffly upon the horse. 

Schlüter unifies the movements of horse and rider, 

underscoring this to a great extent by the diagonal 

from horse’s mane to rider’s leggings.

Research has long recognized that Schlüter’s 

composition of the warlike side of his equestrian statue shows striking parallels 

to Francesco Mochi’s (1580–1648) equestrian statues for Alessandro and Ranuccio 

Farnese in Piacenza, made in 1634.46 Both express power and dynamism, the drag 

of the wind being felt in every detail, transported through the self-assured and 

imperial forward-striding momentum of the figures. But another possible model 

has been overlooked: a plaster model of an equestrian monument to King Jan III 

Sobieski (Wilanów Palace, Warsaw) (fig. 10), although we have no exact knowledge 

of how precisely later additions and repairs kept to the original.47 If the monument 

was completed before Schlüter left Warsaw, he must have seen it, perhaps even 

participating in its creation in some way or other. Despite the different type – 

here the horse is rearing – there are obvious elements in common with the Berlin 

monument: for instance the sovereign’s calm, sweeping glance into the distance, 

the secure, firm grip of the commander’s baton, and – not least – a small detail: 

the design of the saddle cloth with eagle and lion heads, respectively.

The same is true as regards the characteristic composition of the slaves at the 

foot of Schlüter’s monument, which not only constitute an essential element in 

the dynamism of the total design, but also serve to enhance the sublime nature 

of the ruler.48 The left slave, for instance, reveals familiarity with Michelangelo’s 

Pensieroso in the Medici Chapel in Florence, while the right shows the influence 

of the Laocoon group and Bernini’s Four Rivers fountain. The art historian Albert 

Brinckmann put his finger on Schlüter’s response to the European tradition as 

early as the 1920s: Viele Einflüsse – geniale Synthese! (‘Multiple influences – genius 

in synthesis!’)49

When Friedrich I died in 1713 after ruling for twenty-five years, he had 

achieved a great deal. He had secured the royal throne for his house, an important 

foundation for the further ascent of Prussia in the eighteenth and nineteenth 

10. Unknown artist, Jan III 
Sobieski, end of seventeenth 
century with later additions, 
plaster, 290 * 236 * 125 cm. Palace 
Museum, Wilanów.
(photo: Z. Reszka)
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centuries. The Renaissance palace in the city had 

advanced to become the most modern residence in 

the Holy Roman Empire, and had no need to fight shy 

of international comparison, for instance with the 

reconstruction and amplification of the Louvre and 

Versailles, or the building of the Stockholm palace.50 

He had erected a prominent monument to his father 

which was to be the emblem of Berlin for a long time 

to come: the monument did in fact become a symbol 

of the Prussian state, for the fall of Prussia also 

affected the traditional position of the monument. 

In 1943 it was moved from its place on the Lange 

Brücke and stands today in the courtyard of Schloss 

Charlottenburg. 

At Friedrich’s death, Schlüter made the model for 

his sarcophagus, which Johann Jacobi cast in tin and 

lead. It became the counterpart of the sarcophagus 

for Queen Sophie Charlotte that both had created 

in 1705.51 But let us now turn to the monument to 

Friedrich.52 It had a peculiar fate, considering that 

for a time Friedrich wanted a perpetual monument 

to his memory on the Lange Brücke. In 1692 Broebes 

submitted what seemed an opportune design for a 

statue of Friedrich III, which – according to handwritten addenda – he wished to 

erect on the Lange Brücke (fig. 11).53 There is a striking resemblance to the Louis 

XIV statue on the Place des Victoires created by Martin Desjardins (1637–94) 

between 1679 and 1686, not least in the figure of Fame flanking it.54 At the latest in 

1696, however, it was clear that two different monuments were needed, first the 

equestrian statue for the Great Elector, and secondly, a statue for Friedrich III. The 

latter was finished in 1698 (fig. 12). Schlüter had made the model, Jacobi supplied 

the cast.

The statue was to be erected in the inner courtyard of the Berlin Zeughaus, 

which was as we have seen then in the planning stages.55 As with the Lange 

Brücke, Schlüter was at first expected to make the sculptural adornment. Among 

the outstanding works here – they are among Schlüter’s masterpieces – are the 

masks of dying warriors.56 They were to have lined the courtyard, with the bronze 

sculpture installed in the centre. This was never accomplished; construction 

on the Zeughaus was delayed, and no one wanted to place the monument on a 

building site. Moreover, the elector had little interest in it later, since it did not 

have any royal insignia. The royal sceptre was only added long after his death. 

Under his son, Friedrich Wilhelm I, the idea was mooted of placing the monument 

on a column, but this never progressed further than the initial stages.57 Finally, on 

the centennial of the coronation in 1801, it was sent to Königsberg,58 where it was 

lost in 1945 after Soviet troops took the city. The monument is a poignant symbol 

of the rise and fall of the Prussian state. Luckily, full-size plaster casts – made in 

the nineteenth century – have been preserved. 

11. Jean Baptiste Broebes, Design 
of a monument for Friedrich 
III, 1692, engraving, 24 * 19 cm. 
Landesarchiv, Berlin.
(photo: Landesarchiv, Berlin)
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Portraying the sovereign in the garb of a classical emperor was usual. 

Contemporary attire such as that on a life-size wax image of the elector in the 

Berlin Kunstkammer (fig. 13)59 may have been thought too indecorous for a public 

monument. There is, however, contemporary evidence that such attire might 

have been an option.60 Concerning costume, the court followed French models, 

such as the statues of Louis XIV by Desjardins or Antoine Coyzevox (1640–1720).61 

Schlüter’s statue of Friedrich III reveals yet again his predilection for dynamic 

composition. Here, too, the figure is caught by the wind; the elector seems 

just to have taken a stride forward. His facial expression is a manifestation of 

willpower. Capturing personality in this way, combining a mimetic rendering of 

the true personality with ideal enhancement, is again Schlüter’s very personal 

accomplishment, as was his response to a famous model from antiquity, the 

Apollo Belvedere, which, as his contemporaries saw, was his inspiration for the 

portrait of Friedrich.62 

What Schlüter and Jacobi accomplished was the result of blending numerous 

conceptual specifications with their own individual creative powers. Both 

monuments involved complicated planning and building processes that went 

back much further than the time of Schlüter’s and Jacobi’s arrival in Berlin. 

Schlüter did not arrive in Berlin as an all-powerful impresario. It is interesting 

to see how he fulfilled his commissions, and yet accomplished things over and 

above these that his patrons in no way expected. This ‘added value’ was the secret 

of Schlüter’s mastery, which art history started to admire from the second half of 

the eighteenth century. At the time, however, in the 

decades directly after the erection of the monuments, 

it seems that more attention was given to Johann 

Jacobi and his success in casting the equestrian 

monument in one piece.63 

The accompanying text to Johann Georg 

Wolfgang’s presentation engraving of the equestrian 

monument (fig. 14), published after 1704, mentions 

both artists on equal terms: ‘Fusa est ex ære alt. 

ped. XV. pond. libr. CXXVIII, summa cura & unico 

eoque felicissimo jactu à Johanne Jacobi Fusore Regis 

Boruss. ad exemplar a Slutero ejusque Reg. Architect. 

ac Statuario perfectissime elaboratum.’64 But 

comment on the equestrian statue that followed in 

the first half of the eighteenth century devoted more 

attention to Jacobi than to Schlüter. The technical 

achievement of producing horse and rider in a single 

cast yielded higher prestige and acclaim than the 

creation of the model. Thus, to quote Schramm in 

1735: 

The first model of this statue was made by 

the Oberbau Director, Schlüter, and was cast 

thereafter, happily in one piece, by the famous 

Johann Jacobi born in Hamburg in Hesse, a man 

12. Johann Jacobi, after a model 
by Andreas Schlüter, Friedrich 
III, 1697–98, bronze, h: 2.13 m. 
Formerly Königsberg, lost since 
1945.
(photo: Brandenburgisches 
Landesamt für Denkmalpflege und 
Archäologisches Landesmuseum, 
Messbildarchiv, Wünsdorf)



32  |  Sculpture Journal 22.1 [2013]

most experienced in the art of casting, and as we can see, finished with the 

most refined embellishments. Both because of this and because of other 

fine pieces cast in this way, His Most Serene Late Majesty commissioned at 

royal expense a beautiful golden chain, and on it a medal with his portrait, 

together with the Statua equestra and slaves, engraved in copper by the 

Royal Engraver, the renowned Johann George Wolfgang.65 

In 1756 Johann Christoph Müller and Georg Gottfried Küster said much the same, 

and quoted two poems which praised Jacobi’s achievement alone and did not even 

mention Schlüter.66

Similarly, travellers’ guidebooks name only Jacobi and are silent about 

Schlüter’s role. When Carl Christian Schramm had to shorten his gazetteer of 

bridges written in 1735, and republished in his encyclopaedia of travel 1744, 

he decided to leave out Schlüter’s name: ‘the equestrian statue of the Elector 

Friderich Wilhelm the Great [was] cast by the Director of the Prussian Royal 

Foundry, J. Jacobi’.67 A letter of 1731 declared ‘this magnificent monument of metal 

was made by a famous artist Jacobsen born in Switzerland and is regarded by all 

connoisseurs as a very great artistic masterpiece of this kind’.68

Only when the early historiography of art in Berlin gained momentum in 

the mid-eighteenth century was Schlüter’s achievement duly appreciated. The 

inspired creator of the model from then on enjoyed higher esteem than the man 

who cast it – and this has never changed. In an early art dictionary of 1768, Jacobi 

did not receive a single entry, and in the article on Schlüter he is only mentioned 

as a founder of cannons.69 It was Friedrich Nicolai who finally ‘rediscovered’ 

Andreas Schlüter and promoted him as a hero of Berlin’s history and art. In a 

short article in his Lives of Berlin Artists, he names Jacobi as a ‘very skilful bronze-

founder’ and describes his collaboration with Schlüter.70 Schlüter’s oeuvre is then 

prized in paeans of praise extending over several 

pages. Nicolai described the equestrian statue as ‘his 

masterpiece, which alone would merit immortality 

for the artist’.71 He left no doubt that Schlüter’s work 

did not always receive its due acclaim, but was 

convinced at the same time that his work, both in 

architecture and sculpture, would eventually assert 

itself: 

But his immortal works, which beautify 

Berlin, stand here: silent witnesses 

defying the slander of his contemporaries, 

incontrovertible proofs of the talents of an 

artist of the first rank, whom few can rival 

and even fewer surpass, and whose steadfast 

emulation shall never be the work of a 

commonplace mind.72

Today, art historiography prefers to interpret the 

bronze monuments of the Great Elector and his son, 

Friedrich III and I, as the joint effort of Schlüter and 

Jacobi; the perfectionism of the one turned the work 

13. Unknown artist, Friedrich III, 
before 1699, wax and materials, 
life-size. Formerly Hohenzollern-
Museum, Berlin, lost since 1945.
(photo: Stiftung Preußische 
Schlösser und Gärten Berlin-
Brandenburg, Potsdam)



33  |  Hinterkeuser: Visions of power

of the other into a success – and vice versa. The third, 

and not the least, protagonist was of course the royal 

court. It planned and paid for the project, formulated 

the iconographic programme and looked for skilful 

artists outside Berlin, artists who were on the one 

hand able to realize the monument in a professional 

way according to the highest international standards, 

and on the other were willing to live and work in 

Brandenburg’s capital. The court was clear-sighted 

enough to recognize that local abilities were not 

sufficient to start such a complex and expensive 

venture as an over life-size bronze equestrian 

statue. Due to the lack of documentation it is almost 

impossible to separate the interaction of all three 

protagonists, sculptor, caster and patron, and to 

determine their specific part in the common task.73 

But there is no question that the quality of Schlüter’s 

design, dependent on his erudite understanding 

of important sculptural forerunners and the 

amalgamation of their poses, combined with his 

ability to express power, strength and liveliness in 

the horse, rider and slaves was finally responsible for 

the great esteem in which the equestrian monument 

in particular is held today.

Translated by Abigail Ryan-Prohaska14. Johann Georg Wolfgang 
(1662–1744), Monument of 
Friedrich Wilhelm the Great 
Elector, c.1710, engraving, 101 * 
67 cm. Staatsbibliothek zu 
Berlin Preußischer Kulturbesitz, 
Kartenabteilung.
(photo: Staatsbibliothek zu 
Berlin Preußischer Kulturbesitz, 
Kartenabteilung)
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